NO. 44438-1-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

З

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES BRADLEY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The prosecution did not meet its burden of proving the essential elements of a deadly weapon enhancement as required by the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, section 3.

2. There was insufficient evidence James Bradley committed the offense of obstructing a law enforcement officer when his conviction rested on his constitutionally protected behavior.

3. The State did not prove Bradley had the intent to deprive the owner of property as required to convict him of theft in the third degree.

4. The jury's verdict was not based on unanimous agreement of an act underlying the allegation of theft that was proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

5. Bradley's convictions for vehicle prowling in the second degree and theft in the third degree violate double jeopardy.

6. The court impermissibly imposed discretionary legal financial obligations based on an unsupported finding of Bradley's ability to pay.

7. Finding of fact 2.5 in the judgment and sentence is not supported by substantial evidence in the record. CP 97.

B. **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.**

1. A deadly weapon sentencing enhancement requires proof that the perpetrator used a weapon in a manner likely to inflict death. During a dispute over wages owed to him, Bradley swung a baseball bat in the air and hit the complainant's car while requesting that he receive payment for his work. When a baseball bat was not actually used or nearly used to harm a person, has the State met its burden of proving the baseball bat was used in a manner likely to inflict death?

2. Obstructing a law enforcement officer may not be based on constitutionally protected conduct such as speech or the passive refusal to submit to a warrantless seizure. Bradley refused to exit a tool shed at his home for "a few seconds" after the police told him to come out when the police did not have a warrant. Was Bradley's conviction for obstructing a law enforcement officer predicated on exercising his constitutional rights?

3. Theft requires the intent to deprive an owner of his property for some substantial period of time. Bradley took but immediately relinquished control of two items belonging to another. Did the prosecution fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Bradley intended to deprive the owner of either item?

4. Double jeopardy prohibits multiple convictions for the same offense, based on the elements as charged in an individual case. Bradley was charged with vehicle prowling in the second degree and theft in the third degree based on the same act of reaching into someone's car and taking property. The legislature has not declared its intent to punish these offenses separately. Does it violate double jeopardy to separately punish Bradley for both vehicle prowling and theft of property from a car?

5. A person's ability to pay legal financial obligations must be found by the court by clear evidence. No evidence supported the court's finding that Bradley was able to pay discretionary court costs after he was convicted for an incident arising from his inability to pay his basic expenses. Is there insufficient evidence in the record to support the court's conclusion that Bradley has the ability to pay non-mandatory fees?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

Sage Sanchez hired James Bradley, who he knew through church, to repair his father's motor home. RP 175. Sanchez initially paid Bradley daily for his work, but later delayed paying Bradley until Sanchez could cash a check from his father. RP 177-79. Sanchez told

Bradley his father's check would arrive on September 11, 2012, but Sanchez did not cash this check until the next day. RP 178. In the afternoon of September 12, 2012, Sanchez drove to Bradley's home to pay him for the prior week's work. RP 182. Bradley had also worked on Monday, September 10, 2012, and he told Sanchez several times that he needed to be paid to meet his bills. RP 178, 180, 186.

Bradley was outside gardening and talking to several neighbors when Sanchez handed Bradley the money he owed him for the prior week of work. RP 186. Bradley was upset that Sanchez was not also paying him for the work he had done on Monday. *Id*. Sanchez insisted that Bradley would have to wait until the next time his father's check came, on September 22, 2012, to be paid for additional work. *Id*.

Bradley became upset. He took a baseball bat from his house and told Sanchez, "you're going to pay [me] or I'm going to take out every cent or every dollar on this truck." RP 188. He swung the bat at Sanchez's truck, a 1988 Ford Ranger. *Id.* Bradley repeatedly told Sanchez he wanted to be paid and hit the truck with the bat three times, while Sanchez repeated that he would pay him after his father's next pay period. RP 189, 194, 287-88. The truck had several dents but Sanchez was not sure if Bradley caused them or they were already

there. RP 190-93. Bradley raised the bat and pointed it in Sanchez's direction from as close as five feet away. RP 197.

Sanchez walked across the street and asked a neighbor Kimberly Gordhamer if he could come into her home and call the police. RP 198-99, 304. Gordhamer did not know Sanchez and refused. RP 304. Bradley walked after Sanchez and the two men circled a neighbor's car, with Bradley demanding that Sanchez pay him. They moved around the car, with the two men keeping a distance between them and remaining on opposite sides, until Sanchez said, "fine, I'll pay you." RP 200-01, 217. Bradley walked back to his house and told Sanchez he would take his leaf blower as collateral. RP 202. Bradley reached into Sanchez's car through the driver's window and took the keys. RP 257.

Bradley never hit Sanchez or got close enough to hit him. RP 384. Sanchez agreed that Bradley never swung the bat at him although he feared he could be hit. RP 214. Four neighbors and Bradley's housemate Elizabeth Blankenship watched the incident. RP 241, 247-77, 256, 321-22, 371.

After the incident, Blankenship saw Bradley come into the house, put down the bat, throw the keys on a couch, and walk outside toward a trail that leads to another street. RP 278, 287-88.

The police arrived quickly. RP 316. While Blankenship was speaking to the police, she received a text message from Bradley asking her to tell him when the police left. RP 279. Bradley sent another message telling Blankenship he was in the tool shed. RP 279. Blankenship and another neighbor told the police they should check the tool shed. RP 279-80.

Police officer William Granlund and a partner went to the tool shed in the backyard and said, "Tacoma police," and "if someone is in there, come out with their hands up." RP 345-46. No one answered. RP 346. After waiting "[j]ust a few seconds," Granlund opened the shed door. RP 346-47. Bradley was inside, sitting down with his hands up. RP 349, 350. Bradley was taken into custody without incident. RP 350.

The prosecution charged Bradley with second degree assault while armed with a deadly weapon; malicious mischief in the third degree; theft in the third degree; vehicle prowling in the second degree; and obstructing a law enforcement officer. CP 27-29. Bradley was convicted of these offenses after a jury trial and received a standard range sentence of 14 months for second degree assault, consecutive to 12 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, and consecutive terms of two months for each of the four gross misdemeanor convictions. CP

100, 108. The court also imposed \$600 of mandatory legal financial obligations in addition to \$1500 of discretionary fees for a court-appointed attorney. CP 98.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

- 1. Because a deadly weapon enhancement requires a weapon be used in a manner readily capable of death, the prosecution did not prove Bradley was armed with a deadly weapon
 - a. The prosecution must prove that the accused person committed all essential elements of a crime.

The burden of proving the essential elements of a crime unequivocally rests upon the prosecution. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 3. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all essential elements is an "indispensable" threshold of evidence that the State must establish to garner a conviction. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364.

To determine whether there is sufficient evidence for a conviction, reasonable inferences are construed in favor of the prosecution but they may not rest on speculation. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "[E]vidence is insufficient to support a verdict where mere speculation, rather than

reasonable inference, supports the government's case." *United States v. Nevils*, 598 F.3d 1158, 1167 (9th Cir. 2010). A "mere modicum" of evidence is inadequate because it does not "rationally support a conviction beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 320.

Bradley was charged with second degree assault with a deadly weapon, as well as a deadly weapon enhancement, pursuant to RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c) and RCW 9.94A.533. A "deadly weapon" is defined differently as an element of second degree assault than it is for purposes of the deadly weapon enhancement. *Compare* RCW 9A.04.110(6), *with* RCW 9.94A.825.

A "deadly weapon" when used as a means of committing second degree assault is defined as a firearm or

any other weapon, device, instrument, article, or substance, including a "vehicle" as defined in this section, which, under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is *readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm*.

RCW 9A.04.110(6) (emphasis added); see RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c).

A "deadly weapon" for the purposes of the additional penalty imposed as a sentencing enhancement is defined as a firearm, certain listed weapons, or an implement or instrument which has the capacity to inflict death and *from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death.*

RCW 9.94A.825 (emphasis added).¹

The critical difference between these two definitions is that a deadly weapon for second degree assault must be used under circumstances showing it is "readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily injury,"² while a deadly weapon for the sentencing enhancement must be actually used in a manner likely to produce death.

Principles of statutory construction dictate that a penal statute is construed narrowly and strictly. *United States v. Lanier*, 520 U.S. 259, 266, 117 S.Ct. 1219, 137 L.Ed.2d 432 (1997); *State v. Bell*, 83 Wn.2d 383, 388, 518 P.2d 696 (1974) ("we must constrain ourselves and the trial court to a literal and strict interpretation of the criminal statutes"). When the legislature uses different words or includes different language in similar statutes, it is presumed the legislature intended different

² Substantial bodily injury is defined as:

¹ A baseball bat is not listed as a *per se* deadly weapon in RCW 9.94A.825. *See generally State v. Samaniego*, 76 Wn.App. 76, 80, 882 P.2d 195 (1994).

bodily injury which involves a temporary but substantial disfigurement, or which causes a temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ, or which causes a fracture of any bodily part.

RCW 9A.04.110(4)(b).

results. *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792, 795 (2003).

A weapon may meet the "capable of causing substantial bodily injury" standard if it could fracture someone's nose or cause swelling and pain lasting several days. State v. McKague, 172 Wn.2d 802, 806. 262 P.3d 1225 (2011); State v. Weber, 137 Wn.App. 852, 861-62, 155 P.3d 947, rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1001 (2007). By limiting a deadly weapon sentencing enhancement to one used in a manner likely to produce death, while creating a lesser standard that includes being capable of causing substantial bodily injury for second degree assault, the legislature demonstrated its intent to reserve the added punishment to the most serious and actually lethal situations. The possibility of causing substantial bodily injury is insufficient for a deadly weapon sentencing enhancement. The prosecution must prove the weapon was in fact used by the perpetrator in a manner likely to produce or readily capable of causing death.

b. The prosecution did not prove Bradley used a baseball bat in a manner likely to produce death.

Bradley used a baseball bat as a tool to demand Sanchez pay him the wages he earned for work he had performed. He told Sanchez he would hit his car with the bat until he was paid and he swung the bat at Sanchez's car, a 1988 Ford Ranger. RP 188-89, 214. He also followed Sanchez around a neighbor's car while holding the bat, repeatedly demanding that Sanchez pay him what he was owed. RP 199, 277. But the witnesses agreed that Bradley never swung the bat at Sanchez's body. RP 199, 241, 262, 277, 321-22, 371. Bradley did not get close enough to touch Sanchez with the bat, did not reach toward Sanchez as if trying to hit him, and could have moved closer to Sanchez if that was his intent. RP 199, 321, 371, 384.

As soon as Sanchez promised to give Bradley the money he owed him that day, Bradley stopped pursuing Sanchez. RP 201. He walked away when Sanchez agreed to pay him. RP 201.

It is possible that a baseball bat could be a deadly weapon, just as a glass bottle could be a deadly weapon when used to injure someone. *See State v. Shilling*, 77 Wn.App. 166, 169, 889 P.2d 948 (1995) ("as used" in bar fight, glass bottle proven to be deadly weapon under RCW 9A.04.110(6)). However, Bradley did not use the baseball bat in a manner likely to produce death as required under RCW 9.94A.825.

A baseball bat is not a *per se* deadly weapon, otherwise there would be Little Leaguers routinely risking felony adjudications. A baseball bat may be used for nefarious purposes in threatening or hitting another person. However, to qualify as a deadly weapon for purposes of the sentencing enhancement, Bradley was required to actually use it in a manner likely to produce death. *See e.g.*, *State v. Skenandore*, 99 Wn.App. 494, 499-500, 994 P.2d 291 (2000) (homemade spear not deadly weapon for purposes of second degree assault where it "could have" taken out an eye but not as actually used).

For example, a machete is a potentially dangerous and lethal weapon. However, in *In re Pers. Restraint of Martinez*, 171 Wn.2d 354, 256 P.3d 277 (2011), the Supreme Court disapproved of a Court of Appeals decision that had treated a machete as a deadly weapon (under the RCW 9A.04.110(6) definition) based on its "very nature and size." *Id.* at 368 n.6 (disapproving of *State v. Gamboa*, 137 Wn.App. 650, 653, 154 P.3d 312, 314 (2007)). In *Martinez*, the Court criticized *Gamboa* for concluding that a bloody machete found inside a burglarized home was a deadly weapon without evidence of how it was used against a person. *Id.* Although the machete was obviously a

dangerous weapon with potential to cause great harm, it may not constitute a deadly weapon if it was not used as one. *Id*.

The prosecution's closing argument demonstrates the insufficiency of the evidence that Bradley used the baseball bat in a manner likely to cause death as required for the sentencing enhancement. The State discussed how the bat was capable of breaking a bone, which could meet the substantial bodily injury prong of a deadly weapon used to commit assault. RP 438. But the prosecutor mustered no facts specific to the case that showed Bradley used the bat in a manner readily capable of causing death. RP 438-39. Instead, the prosecutor asked the jury to "[i]magine" how a bat could hurt the human skull "depending on where someone gets hit." RP 439. The reason the prosecutor asked the jury to "imagine" about whether a bat could theoretically seriously hurt someone and made no specific argument about how Bradley used the baseball bat in such a manner was because the testimony did not support such a finding.

The prosecutor acknowledged that the definitions of deadly weapon were "a little different" for assault and the sentencing enhancement but offered no theory under which, as actually used, Bradley was likely to have inflicted death with the baseball bat. RP 442.

Bradley used a baseball bat to threaten Sanchez so Sanchez would pay him but never used the bat in a manner likely to cause Sanchez's death. The essential elements of the deadly weapon enhancement were not proven by sufficient evidence.

c. The deadly weapon enhancement must be vacated.

When there is insufficient evidence to prove the essential elements of a deadly weapon enhancement, the enhancement may not be imposed. *State v. Gurske*, 155 Wn.2d 134, 143-44, 118 P.3d 333 (2005). Bradley's sentencing enhancement must be reversed and vacated.

- 2. There was insufficient evidence that Bradley's failure to immediately come out of his home to submit to a warrantless arrest constituted obstructing a law enforcement officer.
 - a. An obstruction conviction may not be based on a person's exercise of constitutionally protected rights.

To prove Bradley committed the offense of obstructing a law enforcement officer, the prosecution needed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that he willfully hindered, delayed, or obstructed a law enforcement officer in the discharge of his official powers or duties. RCW 9A.76.020(1); CP 27. Because the elements of obstruction are broad enough to encompass constitutionally protected speech and conduct, the statute is construed narrowly. *State v. Williams*, 171 Wn.2d 474, 478, 251 P.3d 877 (2011). The mere refusal to answer questions cannot be the basis of an arrest for obstruction of a police officer because speech is protected by the First Amendment. *State v. White*, 97 Wn.2d 92, 106, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982); *State v. Hoffman*, 35 Wn.App. 13, 16, 664 P.2d 1259 (1983).

Additionally, a mere refusal to open the door to police may be constitutionally protected conduct. The police lack inherent authority to demand entry into a person's home or to "meander around the curtilage and engage in warrantless detentions and seizures of residents." *United States v. Perea-Rey*, 680 F.3d 1179, 1188-89 (9th 2012); *Kentucky v. King*, __ U.S. __ , 131 S.Ct. 1849, 1862, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. 4; Wash. Const. art. I, § 7. Police also cannot demand that a person incriminate himself. U.S. Const. amend. 5; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. A person cannot be prosecuted for exercising his right to refuse warrantless police entry into his home. *United States v. Prescott*, 581 F.2d 1343, 1350 (9th Cir. 1978); *see State v. Gauthier*, _Wn.App. __ , 298 P.3d 126, 130 (2013) ("because the Fourth Amendment gives individuals a constitutional right to refuse consent to a warrantless search," such refusal "is privileged conduct that cannot be considered as evidence of criminal wrongdoing").

In *Prescott*, an apartment resident refused to open her door as requested by the police, who lacked a warrant, and she was prosecuted for hindering the police. 581 F.2d at 1347. The court ordered a new trial on other grounds, but also barred evidence of her refusal to let the police into her home at a re-trial. The court reasoned that when an "officer demands entry but presents no warrant, there is a presumption that the officer has no right to enter, because it is only in certain carefully defined circumstances that lack of a warrant is excused." *Id.* at 1350. The passive refusal to open a door upon a police request cannot be penalized "regardless of one's motivation." *Id.* at 1351; *Cf. State v. Budik*, 173 Wn.2d 727, 739, 272 P.3d 816 (2012) (passive non-disclosure of information to police not "obstruction" in context rendering criminal assistance statute).

There are occasions when the police may enter a home without a warrant, but none are present in Bradley's case. In *State v. Steen*, 164 Wn.App. 789, 794-95, 265 P.3d 901 (2011), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1024 (2012), police officers were responding to an emergency situation

involving an unresolved report of domestic violence and believed that either a suspect or injured person could be inside a locked trailer. They commanded anyone inside the trailer to come out but no one responded. Id. at 795. Finally the police entered, found Steen inside, and tried to determine his identity. Id. at 796. Steen refused to give the police his name or date of birth. Id. After spending 45 minutes locating Steen's identifying information, he was arrested for an outstanding warrant and charged him with obstructing law enforcement officers. Id. This Court affirmed Steen's obstruction conviction because the police were in the midst of investigating an emergency situation when Steen refused to exit the locked trailer and then would not provide his name for an extended period of time. *Id.* at 800-01. Unlike *Steen*, the police were not responding to an on-going emergency when they were trying to arrest Bradley on his own property.

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