**NO. 44438-1-II**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JAMES BRADLEY, APPELLANT

---

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Vicki L. Hogan

No. 12-1-03458-5

---

---

**Response Brief**

---

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
BRIAN WASANKARI  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 28945

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

- i. **There is no requirement that a defendant retain the stolen property for a substantial period of time.**

Defendant claims that there was insufficient evidence of his intent to deprive Mr. Sanchez of the stolen property because he did not retain possession of the property for a substantial period of time. *See* Brief of Appellant at 19. Defendant's claim fails as there is no requirement that a defendant maintain possession of a stolen item for a substantial period of time.

Defendant relies solely on *State v. Walker* in support of his argument. *State v. Walker*, 75 Wn. App. 101, 879 P.2d 957 (1994). While defendant argues that *Walker* adds a durational element to the crime of

theft, this is a misrepresentation of *Walker*. In *Walker*, the court held that the statutes for taking a motor vehicle without permission (joyriding) and theft in the first degree were not concurrent. *Id.* at 108. In reaching the holding, the court discussed the duration differences between the statutes stating that "the joyriding statute proscribes the initial unauthorized use of an automobile, while the theft statute *proscribes* the continued or permanent unauthorized use of an automobile." *Id.* at 108 (emphasis added). The court neither implicitly nor explicitly added a durational element to the crime of theft. It merely articulated the well-established notion that theft forbids the continued or permanent unauthorized use of another's property. While proof that an item has been taken for a substantial period of time may help to establish the intent to deprive element of theft, it is not required under *Walker*, or any other legal authority, as an element of the crime of theft.

As witnesses testified that defendant took Mr. Sanchez's keys and leaf blower and secured them in his house, the State presented sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find defendant guilty of theft.

ii. **The State was not required to give a Petrich instruction when the thefts were part of a continuing course of conduct.**

Only a unanimous jury can return a "guilty" verdict in a criminal case. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Where the evidence shows multiple acts occurred that could constitute the charged offense, the State must either elect which act it relies upon or the jury must be instructed that it must unanimously agree upon which act it found. *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 683 P.2d 173 (2009). Constitutional error resulting in a new trial occurs where no unanimity instruction is given unless the error is shown to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Bobenhouse*, 166 Wn.2d 881, 893, 214 P.3d 907 (2009); *Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d at 64.

However, no election or unanimity instruction is needed if the defendant's acts were part of a continuing course of conduct. *State v. Handran*, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989). Appellate courts must "review the facts in a commonsense manner to decide whether criminal conduct constitutes one continuing act." *State v. Fiallo-Lopez*, 78 Wn. App. 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995). A continuing course of conduct exists when a defendant's actions promote one objective and occur at the

same time and place. *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 571; *State v. Love*, 80 Wn. App. 357, 361, 908 P.2d 395 (1996). In determining whether multiple acts were part of a continuing course of conduct, the reviewing court considers (1) the time separating the acts, and (2) whether the acts involved the same parties, location, and ultimate purpose. *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn. App. 1, 14, 248 P.3d 518 (2010).

Here, defendant claims that the court erred by failing to give a unanimity instruction where the State presented evidence of two different acts constituting theft. *See* Brief of Appellant at 22. Defendant's claim fails as no unanimity instruction was required because the acts were part of a continuing course of conduct.

Here, no unanimity instruction was required because the acts underlying the theft convictions were part of a continuing course of conduct. The thefts of the leaf blower and keys were part of a continuing course of conduct because they occurred within a limited time frame and involved the same party, location, and ultimate purpose. The record shows that there was little time between when defendant stole the keys and the leaf blower because it all occurred during the same incident. Further, the acts involved the same party, location, and ultimate purpose because both thefts involved Mr. Sanchez's property, around his truck, for the purpose of getting value from Mr. Sanchez. Clearly, the two thefts were part of a

continuing course of conduct, so it was unnecessary for the trial court to give a Petrich instruction. As such, this Court should dismiss defendant's claim and affirm his conviction.

2. DOUBLE JEOPARDY IS NOT IMPLICATED  
BECAUSE THE FACTS AND LEGAL ISSUES  
UNDERLYING THE THEFT AND VEHICLE  
PROWLING CONVICTIONS ARE DISTINCT.

Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution, the double jeopardy clause, guarantees that, "[n]o person shall... be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." It mirrors the protections offered by the federal constitutional protection against double jeopardy. *See State v. Gocken*, 127 Wn.2d 95, 107, 896 P.2d 1267 (1995) (holding Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution should be given the same interpretation as the United States Supreme Court gives to the Fifth Amendment). "Double jeopardy principles protect a defendant from being convicted more than once under the same statute if the defendant commits only one unit of the crime." *State v. Westling*, 145 Wn.2d 607, 610, 540 P.3d 669 (2002). "Where a defendant's act supports charges under two criminal statutes, a court weighing double jeopardy challenge must determine whether, in the light of legislative intent, the charged crimes constitute the same offense." *State v. Nysta*, 168 Wn. App. 30, 44, 275

P.3d 1162 (2012). "To determine if a defendant has been punished multiple times for the same offense, this court has traditionally applied the 'same evidence test.'" *State v. Adel*, 136 Wn.2d 629, 632, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998) (quoting *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 777, 888 P.2d 155 (1995)). This test mirrors the federal same elements standard adopted in *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932). *Id.* (citing *State v. Gocken*, 127 Wn.2d 95, 107, 896 P.2d 1267 (1995)).

Under this test, two convictions constitute the "same offense" for the purposes of double jeopardy if they are the same in law and in fact. *Calle*, 125 Wn.2d at 777. Thus, if each conviction includes elements not included in the other, or requires proof of a fact that the other does not, the offenses are different and the convictions may stand. *Adel*, 136 Wn.2d at 633.

In the present case, defendant argues that double jeopardy was violated because his theft and vehicle prowling convictions constitute the same offense. *See* Brief of Appellant at 23. Defendant's claim fails because, as charged, theft and vehicle prowling were neither legally nor factually identical.

Double jeopardy is not implicated because the theft in the third degree and vehicle prowling are not legally identical. A person commits the crime of vehicle prowling in the second degree when that person enters

or remains unlawfully in a vehicle with the intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein. RCW 9A.52.100(1). A defendant is guilty of theft in the third degree when he or she wrongfully obtains or exerts unauthorized control over the property of another, or value thereof, with intent to deprive that person of such property. RCW 9A.56.050(1); RCW 9A.56.020(1).

Hence, each statute requires that the State prove completely different elements. Vehicle prowling requires that "a person enter or remain unlawfully in a vehicle" while theft in the third degree requires that "a person wrongfully obtains or exerts unauthorized control over the property of another..." RCW 9A.52.100(1); RCW 9A.56.050(1); RCW 9A.56.020(1). The statutes further differ in that vehicle prowling requires "the intent to commit a crime against a person or property," while theft specifically requires "the intent to *deprive* that person of such property." *Id.* (emphasis added). As the statutes are clearly distinguishable on their face, double jeopardy was not violated.

Moreover, double jeopardy is not implicated because the facts underlying each conviction are different. The facts supporting each conviction rested on completely different acts. While defendant's conviction for vehicle prowling was based on his act of entering the vehicle to steal the keys, the theft conviction was based on the two



separate acts of actually taking the keys and the leaf blower. While the fact that defendant entered the vehicle was sufficient for the vehicle prowling conviction, it would have been insufficient for the theft convictions which required that he actually took the property.

As each offense contains an element not included in the other and proving one offense does not necessarily prove the other, it follows that defendant's convictions did not violate the double jeopardy prohibition. Therefore, this Court should affirm his convictions.

3. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE COURT IMPROPERLY IMPOSED LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT BECAUSE THE ISSUE IS NEITHER RIPE NOR PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW.

Pursuant to RCW 10.01.160, the court may require a convicted defendant to pay court costs and other assessments associated with bringing the case to trial. The initial imposition of court costs at sentencing is predicated on the determination that the defendant either has or will have the ability to pay. RCW 10.01.160(3). Within the statute are the following safeguards:

- (1) A sentencing court may impose repayment of court costs only if it determines that the defendant is or will be able to pay, and

(2) A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs.

RCW 10.01.160(1)(2).

Pursuant to RCW 10.73.160, the appellate court may impose appellate costs, including fees for appointed counsel, upon a convicted indigent defendant. RCW 10.73.160 also includes the following safeguards:

“A defendant who is not in contumacious default may petition the court at any time for remission of the costs or any unpaid portion. If payment will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant’s immediate family, the court *may* remit all or part of the amount due, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.”

RCW 10.73.160(4) (emphasis added).

The court does not always have discretion regarding the imposition of legal financial obligations (LFOS). Under statute, it is mandatory for the court to impose the following LFOs whenever a defendant is convicted of a felony: criminal filing fee, crime victim penalty assessment fee, and DNA database fee. RCW 7.68.035; RCW 43.43.754; RCW 9.94A.030; RCW 36.18.020(h). Additionally, no consideration of a defendant’s financial circumstances, ability to pay, or indigency is required before

imposing appellate costs. *State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 238, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997)(emphasis added).

- a. Defendant failed to preserve the issue for appellate review by not objecting to the imposition of costs at either of his sentencing hearings.

Arguments not raised in the trial court are generally not considered on appeal. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); RAP 2.5(a). For the first time on appeal, defendant raises the issue of his ability to pay his LFOs. Defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs at either of his sentencing hearings. RP 495-504. Because defendant did not object at any time to the imposition of LFOs or the court's finding that he had the ability to pay, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. As defendant did not properly preserve this issue for appellate review, this Court should refuse to review his claim.

- b. Defendant does not demonstrate this claim may be reviewed under RAP 2.5(a).

There are only three circumstances in which the appellate court must review an issue raised for the first time on appeal: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, or (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). Defendant does not demonstrate that his claim that this challenge to the

imposition of LFOs falls under any of the provisions of RAP 2.5(a). *See* Brief of Appellant at 30.

Instead, defendant relies on *Bertrand* to support his claim that challenges to the finding of a defendant's ability to pay LFOs may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 395, 267 P.3d 511 (2011).

In *Bertrand*, defendant appealed the trial court's imposition of LFOs as well as an enhanced sentence following her conviction for delivering a controlled substance. *Id.* The trial court imposed \$4,304 in LF's, and on appeal, defendant argued that there was no evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that she had the present or future ability to pay her LFOs. *Id.* at 403. The court held that the trial court's finding that defendant had the ability to pay her LFOs was clearly erroneous because there was no evidence in the record to support that finding, and "in light of Bertrand's disability, her ability to pay LFO's... is arguably in question." *Id.* The court affirmed the enhanced sentence, reversed the trial court's finding that defendant has the present or future ability to pay LFO's, and remanded to strike the finding from the judgment and sentence. *Id.* at 405. Because the defendant could apply for remission of her LFO's when the State initiates collections, the court did not completely address the ripeness of defendant's challenge. *Id.*

Hence, the court in *Bertrand* did not state that the issue of improper imposition of LFOs falls under any of the conditions of RAP 2.5(a) or articulate its reason to review the trial court's finding when the issue was not preserved. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. at 404. As defendant fails to show that he may raise his claim for the first time on appeal, this court should dismiss defendant's claim.

- c. The issue regarding defendant's ability to pay legal financial obligations is not ripe for review.

The time to challenge LFOs on the basis of a defendant's ability to pay is when the State seeks to collect the obligation. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009), (citing *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 310-11, 818 P.2d 1116) (1991)). The time to examine a defendant's ability to pay costs is when the government seeks to collect the obligation because, until that time, the determination of whether the defendant has or will have the ability to pay is speculative. *Id.*

Defendants who claim indigency must do more than plead poverty in general terms when seeking remission or modification of LFOs because compliance with the conditions imposed under a Judgment and Sentence are essential. *State v. Woodward*, 116 Wn. App. 697, 703-704, 67 P.3d 530 (2003). While a court may not incarcerate an offender who truly cannot pay LFOs, the defendant must make a good faith effort to satisfy

those obligations by seeking employment, borrowing money, or raising money in any other lawful manner. *Bearden v. Georgia*, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1976); *Woodward*, 116 Wn. App. at 704.

A trial court's determination of a defendant's resources and ability to pay legal financial obligations is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard, and the decision to impose recoupment of attorney's fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312. The court must balance the defendant's ability to pay costs against burden of his obligation before imposing recoupment of attorney's fees. *Id.*

In this case, defendant challenges the court's imposition of LFOs by claiming it erred when it found the defendant had the present or future ability to pay costs. However, the State has not yet sought enforcement of the cost. Therefore, the determination as to whether the trial court erred is not ripe for appellate review.

Defendant's arguments to the contrary rely heavily on *Bertrand*. However, because of the factual differences, *Bertrand* does not apply to this case. First, while Bertrand was disabled, there is nothing in the record here to suggest that defendant is disabled in any way. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. at 404. The record contains evidence that defendant is very much able-bodied: defendant chased Mr. Sanchez around two vehicles while

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